
 
Published and despatched by democracy@southkesteven.gov.uk on Wednesday, 9 February 2022 

 01476 406080 
Karen Bradford, Chief Executive 

www.southkesteven.gov.uk 

Rural and 
Communities 
Overview and 
Scrutiny 
Committee 

 

     
 

 

Thursday, 17 February 2022 at 2.00 pm 
Council Chamber - South Kesteven House,  

St. Peter's Hill, Grantham. NG31 6PZ 
 

 

Committee 
Members: 

 

Councillor Ray Wootten (Chairman) 
Councillor Sarah Trotter (Vice-Chairman) 
 

Councillor Mrs Rosemary Kaberry-Brown, Councillor Philip Knowles,  
Councillor Hilary Westropp and Councillor Amanda Wheeler 
 

Agenda 
 

1.   Comments from Members of the Public 
 

To receive comments or views from members of the public at the Committee’s 
discretion. 
 

 

2.   Apologies for absence 
 

 

3.   Disclosure of Interest 
 

Members are asked to disclose any interest in matters for 
consideration at the meeting. 
 

 

4.   Action Notes from the meeting held on 8 December 2021 
 

(Pages 3 - 12) 

5.   Updates from the previous meeting 
 

To receive updates on actions agreed at the previous meeting.  
 

(Pages 13 - 14) 

6.   Regulatory Compliance 
 

This report seeks to update Committee on actions to ensure regulatory 
compliance of the Council’s social housing landlord function following the 
non-compliance notice issued by the Regulator of Social Housing.  

(Pages 15 - 26) 

mailto:democracy@southkesteven.gov.uk
http://www.southkesteven.gov.uk/
http://moderngov.southkesteven.gov.uk/mgMemberIndex.aspx?bcr=1
https://twitter.com/intent/tweet?text=Meeting%20agenda%20@southkesteven
http://www.linkedin.com/shareArticle?mini=true&url=http://moderngov.southkesteven.gov.uk/mgWhatsNew.aspx?bcr=1
http://facebook.com/sharer/sharer.php?u=http://moderngov.southkesteven.gov.uk/mgWhatsNew.aspx?bcr=1


 

7.   Council House New Builds 
 

This report seeks to provide Committee with an update on the current 
new build programme, an overview of recent delivery, and invites 
Committee’s input and views to the future direction of the Council’s HRA 
New Build Programme. 
 

(Pages 27 - 33) 

8.   Crime Disorder - Neighbourhood Policing and Anti-social Behaviour 
 

Since the publication and printing of this agenda pack, the Chairman has 
agreed that this item will be deferred to the next meeting scheduled to be 
held on 28 April 2022. 
 

(Pages 35 - 40) 

9.   Verbal Update on Lincolnshire Police and Crime Panel 
 

The Committee to receive a verbal update from the Vice – 
Chairman, Councillor Sarah Trotter.  
 

 

10.   Work Programme 2021 – 2022 
 

To receive the Work Programme for 2021 – 2022  
 

(Pages 41 - 44) 

11.   Any other business which the Chairman, by reason of special 
circumstances, decides is urgent 
 

 



 

 

Action Notes  
 

Rural and Communities Overview 
and Scrutiny Committee  
 

Wednesday, 8 December 2021, 14:00  
 

Council Chamber, South Kesteven  
House, St. Peter's Hill, Grantham.  
NG31 6PZ 

 

 
 

Committee Members: 
 

Councillor Ray Wootten (Chairman) 
Councillor Sarah Trotter (Vice-Chairman) 

 
 

Councillor Philip Knowles 
Councillor Hilary Westropp 
Councillor Amanda Wheeler  

 

Other Members in attendance: 
 

Councillor Jacky Smith 
 

Cabinet Members in attendance: 
 

Councillor Robert Reid (Cabinet Member for Housing and Property) 
Councillor Annie Mason (Cabinet Member for People and Safer Communities) 
 

Officers  

 

Andrew Cotton (Director of Housing and Property) 
Craig Spence (Assistant Director for Housing) 
Nicola McCoy-Brown (Director of Growth and Culture) 
Debbie Roberts (Interim Organisational and Development and Change Manager) 
Ken Lyon (Assistant Chief Executive) 
Ben Russell (Performance Lead) 
Emma Sharpe (Leisure and Events Officer) 
Alice Atkins (LGA Graduate) 
Amy Pryde (Democratic Services Officer) 
 
 

28. Comments from Members of the Public 
 
There were none.  
 
29. Apologies for absence 
 
Apologies for absence were received from Councillor Rosemary Kaberry – Brown.  
 
30. Disclosure of Interest 
 
There were none.  

3

Agenda Item 4



 

 

 
31. Action Notes from the meeting held on 7 October 2021 
 
Members considered the Action Notes of the meeting held on 7 October 2021. It was 
proposed, seconded and AGREED that the action notes were a true and accurate 
record.  
 
32. Updates from the previous meeting 
 
Concern was raised about unanswered questions from the previous meeting. 
 
The Cabinet Member for Housing and Property confirmed that Environment SK Ltd 
had required a new mapping system that would categorise gardens based on the 
square meterage for transparency of costs. The following costings were provided: 
 

• 14 cuts a year for 114 customers would be £410, meaning £29.28 per visit.  

• 14 grass cuts and 1 hedge cut a year for 2600 customers would be £490. 

• 1 hedge cut for 125 customers would be £80 per application of hedge cutting.  

• A desktop exercise showed that the appropriate hourly rate would be £30.78. 
 
In addition, the Cabinet Member for Housing and Property discussed the change in 
specification from a ‘grass cut’ to a ‘cut and collect’. The specification change had 
impacted the price and length of time for each visit. The ‘one-off’ costs for the 
provision of green bins to enable the collection of cuttings, had an expected out-turn 
of 180,000.  
 
The Committee were provided with benchmarking and statistics of other Council’s 
regarding grass cutting schemes. It was noted that the cost and findings of South 
Kesteven District Council were in line with other Councils. 
 
It was emphasised that the costings provided were a charge from Environment SK 
Ltd to the South Kesteven District Council. Reference was made to the questions 
asked at the previous meeting regarding on-costs, overhead charges and profit. 
 
One Member stated that he had sent a letter to the Monitoring Officer about the 
Cabinet Member for Housing and Property also being a Director of Environment SK 
Ltd. He felt that the two roles were not compatible and there would be a conflict of 
interest. 
 
The Cabinet Member for Housing and Property confirmed that he had sought advice 
from the Monitoring Officer, and that nothing would prevent the Cabinet Member for 
Housing and Property also becoming the Director of Environment SK Ltd. The 
Cabinet Member assured the Committee that advice from the Monitoring Officer 
would always be sought prior to taking any decisions.  
 
 
 
 
 
 

4



 

 

ACTION: 
 

1. For an update on the assisted garden scheme to be reported at the next 
meeting. 

2. For the Director of Housing and Cabinet Member for Housing and 
Property to circulate information prior to the next meeting regarding on-
costs, charges for overheads and the profit of the assistant garden 
maintenance scheme.  

3. For an Update on Crime Disorder to be added to the Work programme 
and brought to the next Committee meeting. 

4. For the Monitoring Officer to respond to the relevant Members letter 
before the next meeting.  
 

 
33. Progress of Corporate Plan - Performance against KPI's 
 
The Performance Lead presented the report that outlined the quarterly update and 
the ambition to review the corporate plan actions and indicators. It was highlighted 
that the performance actions had been positive and appropriate mitigation plans had 
been put in place to ensure that other targets would be met by the end of the year.  
 
The Performance Lead emphasised that one action had been rated as red, meaning 
this target could not be met by the end of the year. The action covered the supply of 
high quality, sustainable council houses and that no completions had been 
undertaken due to the target being too ambitious and the redirection of budget.  
 
One Member sought clarification over actions relating to healthy and strong 
communities.  
 
The Performance Lead confirmed that when the initial set of indicators and actions 
had been put together, the actions in question were delivered by different 
directorates, on review they had been split out for clarity. The Assistant Chief 
Executive also explained the 2 parts to the action. The first part related to the 
voluntary sector and community funding and the second part related to culture 
funding.  
 
The Chairman raised a query regarding the replacement of solid fuel heating.  
 
The Director for Housing and Property confirmed that the replacement would be for 
the benefit of tenants. He highlighted that surveys were progressing on properties in 
rural areas and to assess which replacement heating system would work best for 
them. It was confirmed that planned work would include a ‘complete package’, this 
included electric storage heaters, solar panels to assist with running costs and the 
installation of new doors and windows if required.  
 
One Member raised concern of what work would be undertaken in the interim over 
the winter months whilst the replacement of heating systems took place. It was also 
queried if a record was held of properties that don’t have new heating installed. 
 

5



 

 

The Director for Housing and Property confirmed that information held on the housing 
stock showed areas of weakness. It was highlighted that the stock condition survey 
was currently being rolled out which would assist in validating the information held by 
the Council. He emphasised that the Council was aware of its responsiveness with 
regard to heating failures, where better contract management was required.  
 
The Cabinet Member for Housing and Property noted an issue raised by a Member in 
regard to heating systems, which were being addressed by the Green Homes Grant. 
He stated that a programme was available in each Members’ ward of houses being 
addressed under the scheme.  
 
The Cabinet Member for Housing & Property provided the Committee with an update 
on heating systems on Riverside. It was noted that issues had been readdressed 
with heating and hot water and the ongoing programme. The grounds maintenance 
contract and the number of cuts had also been readdressed. The Cabinet Member 
for Housing and Property confirmed that the team were still working on this project.  
 
One Member raised concern over the time limits and that numerical specific targets 
were not being reached. It was suggested that graded targets may be a better option 
where targets can be reviewed quarterly throughout the year rather than twice a year 
to enable accuracy.  
 
The Performance Lead confirmed that when the targets were set in 2020, the 
circumstances around the organisation were different. There had been longer-term 
ambitions this year. He stated that targets this year were more specific and focussed 
on the Council monitoring it’s services. The Performance Lead stated that quarterly 
reporting was currently carried out and all information was collected and brought 
before a performance management meeting where issues were challenged.  
 
ACTION: 
 
1. For the Committee to receive more frequent updates and to review the 

statistics outside of Committee meetings, when appropriate.  
 
2. For the Performance Lead to provide clarity on CCTV statistics relating to 

direct arrests and information leading to an arrest.  
 
AGREED: 
 

1. To note the contents of the 2021/22 mid-year performance report.  
 
2. That the Committee supports the amended Corporate Plan Actions and 

Key Performance Indicators in line with the outcomes of the review.  
 
34. Void Policy and Re-let Standard 
 
The Cabinet Member for Housing and Property presented the report which outlined 
that the Council currently had 93 voids, of which 10 were being held for decamp and 
re-housing. He highlighted the importance of the Council’s role as a landlord in 
quickly and safely re-letting properties once a tenancy had ended. The benefits for 

6



 

 

the Council by reducing rent loss within the budget and easing pressure on the 
waiting list and allowing surveys to be carried out on Council properties. It was noted 
that the voids performance had been under scrutiny due to the slow turnaround of 
properties.  
 
The Director for Housing and Property stated that in terms of voids and void 
properties, the challenges faced by officers included systems that had not been 
working sufficiently to support them. Data and reporting had not been a quick and 
simple process, and this had added to the confusion around the different teams 
involvement (repairs, allocations, and housing management). The report also 
contained main considerations of performance, which had been poor.  
 
The Assistant Director of Housing informed the Committee that a weekly meeting had 
been put into place with stakeholders from individual teams to discuss the void 
process. It was also highlighted that the team had been currently going out to market 
for a new housing management system. The new system that was being procured 
would have embedded workflows to enable the system to generate actions to be 
completed within timescales.  
 
It was highlighted that the re-let standard enabled a ‘front-foot’ position to ensure 
tenants kept the Council’s properties in a good condition. Ongoing tenancy 
management would be put into place to ensure regular visits and property 
inspections took place. The Assistant Director of Housing noted that termination 
inspections would take place over the ‘notice-period’ and active recharges would be 
taken if necessary.  
 
It was confirmed that if a tenant was to disappear following the end of their tenancy, it 
would be kept on record and further costs would be applied to their rent account if 
they happen to apply for housing in the future.  
 
The Director of Housing and Property highlighted that the tenancy agreement 
required the tenant to provide 4 weeks’ notice and that the tenant would still be liable 
for the rent if they happen to leave immediately. 
 
One Member raised asked if the Housing team liaised with surrounding neighbours 
when visiting Council properties. It was confirmed that liaising with neighbours would 
depend on the appropriateness of the case. 
 
Another Member raised a query as to whether the Council had a deposit scheme for 
Council properties.  
 
The Director for Housing and Property confirmed the differences between private 
rented sector and social housing. He stated that due to the Council being a social 
landlord, a deposit scheme would not be applicable.  
 
One Member raised a query over why the void rent loss had increased and the void 
time had decreased. The Member also queried the replacing of fitted carpets and the 
problems and responsibilities around insect infestations. 
 

7



 

 

The Director of Housing and Property confirmed that a void figure was only provided 
at the time of when a property was let, if properties were not re-let, it still accumulated 
void rent loss, but they would not show in the re-let figures.  
 
It was confirmed that following the end of a tenancy, carpets would be removed due 
to the possibility that flooring may need repair. In regard to vermin and pests, the 
Council would provide appropriate treatment whilst a property was void. Once the 
tenancy agreement had been signed, the tenant would then be responsible for 
vermin and pests.  
 
A comment was made about the wording of the policy objectives compared to the 
policy that had been reviewed in January 2021. 
 
The Cabinet Member for Housing and Property emphasised the failings within the 
housing service had been the onus of both officers and Members of the past. He 
highlighted that the ‘Review of Voids’ brought before the Committee in January 2021 
provided similar information to the policy. He noted the differences between the two 
documents and that the heads of terms would be improved. 
 
AGREED: 
 
1. To note the content of the report. 
 
2. To provide comments and feedback on the Void Policy and Re-let 

Standard. 
 
RECOMMENDATION: 
 
1. To support submission of the Void Policy and Re-let Standard for Cabinet 

consideration and approval.  
 
2. For the Committee to receive timely specific targets, in relation to the 
Void Policy and Re-let Standard.  
 
35. Regulatory Compliance 
 
The Cabinet Member for Housing and Property presented the report which included 
the latest version of the Housing Improvement Plan.  
 
The Assistant Director of Housing assured the Committee that the Corporate 
Management Team (CMT) had approved access to a framework to procure a new 
housing management system which would take approximately 12 months to 
implement.  
 
One Member raised concern about the servicing of smoke alarms in Bourne, the poor 
responses from subcontractors and the wait times of telephone system at the 
Council.  
 
The Director for Housing and Property confirmed that a sheltered housing 
improvement plan update had been provided to the regulator every month, where 

8



 

 

these issues had been identified. It was confirmed that the telephone system had 
been reviewed and the main problem had been a shortage of staff within the Repair 
Team’s customer contact officers, and that vacancies had now been filled.  
 
The Cabinet Member for Housing and Property informed Members about the digital 
solution for housing management for the future. It was stated that the IT system 
would allow tenants to raise their faults, track the level of progress, length of calls 
made and timings for the repair. It was noted that there would be a backup practical 
team as well as the IT solution. 
 
The Cabinet Member for Housing and Property confirmed that the existing systems 
would be used in the interim until the new system was live. During this 12 month 
period, up to date information would be loaded onto the new system.  
 
AGREED: 
 
1. To note the latest compliance position following ongoing meetings with 

the regulator of social housing 
 
2. That the Committee receive a further update report at the next Committee 

meeting.  
 
3. To review the performance level. 
 
36. Covid Update 
 
The Cabinet Member for People and Safer Communities provided a Covid Update for 
the Committee which outlined the concern of the Omicron variant, which had led 
England to reintroduce restrictions: 
 

• Mask wearing compulsory unless exempt 

• Covid testing on re-entry to the UK for international travel 

• Moving countries onto the red list for international travel  
 

The importance of social distancing, mask wearing and vaccinations was 
emphasised.  
 
The Cabinet Member for People and Safer Communities provided the Committee 
with statistics in relation to Lincolnshire and South Kesteven: 
 

• Total positive cases in South Kesteven since the start of the pandemic was 
20,579 resulting in 300 deaths within 28 days of a first positive test. 

• The rate of positive cases (per hundred thousand) in South Kesteven was 
520. 

• The rate of positive cases (per hundred thousand) in Lincolnshire was 450. 
 
The majority of positive cases had been found in primary school-aged children and 
unvaccinated people.  
 

9



 

 

The Cabinet Member highlighted the excellent professionals and volunteers that had 
been delivering the vaccination programme. 
 
A query was raised regarding what could be done to recognise the hard work of the 
volunteers. It was confirmed that the Cabinet Member for People and Safer 
Communities and the Assistant Chief Executive would be addressing this. 
 
37. Mental Health Working Party Update 
 
The Cabinet Member for People and Safer Communities provided the Committee 
with a 6 monthly update on the Mental Health Working Party. It was highlighted that a 
Member/Officer working party had been put together to promote positive mental well-
being in South Kesteven.  
 
The Assistant Chief Executive outlined key areas of focus: 
 

• Supporting positive mental health in our communities. 

• Supporting positive wellbeing in Officers and Members. 

• Embedding within decision making and policy. 

• Working with local partners and the voluntary sector.  

• Engaging with LCC and the Health and Wellbeing Board.  
 
A Member of the Mental Health Working Party highlighted the fantastic opportunity to 
work across a variety of organisations with Officers and Members. The importance of 
the work that the group did was emphasised and that it had sent out a positive 
message of putting the community at the heart of South Kesteven.  
 
Concern was expressed about services in the Arts Centres which had previously 
been free for communities to utilise. 
 
The Assistant Chief Executive clarified that the acronym ‘PCN’ stood for Primary 
Care Network which outlined how the local health services were divided across the 
County.  
 
AGREED: 
 
To note the contents of the report and presentation. 
 
38. Homelessness Update (Change 4 Lincs) 
 
The Cabinet Member for Housing and Property presented the report which outlined 
the aims of a project to provide a new response to tackling rough sleeping, through 
partnership working with the housing options team in four Districts.  
 
The aim had been fulfilled by identifying and engaging with rough sleepers to source 
accommodation and deliver intense support by providing a chance to escape 
homelessness and transition into settled accommodation.  
 
One Member raised a point regarding an application called ‘Street Link’ that had 
been available on the App Store. The application provided the opportunity to log and 

10



 

 

send the whereabouts to local services of a rough sleeper around England and 
Wales. 
 
A query was raised about the wait time for a home following the reporting of a 
homeless individual.  
 
The Director for Housing and Property confirmed that engagement with an 
entrenched rough sleeper could be difficult. It was highlighted that Change 4 Lincs 
had been designed to offer support to individuals where the local Council would not 
have a full duty to accommodate, if an individual was in priority need, the Council 
held a full duty to accommodate them on the same day, even on a temporary 
accommodation basis.  
 
A comment was made about the alleged link between rough sleepers and 
alcohol/drug users. 
 
It was confirmed that the support team who worked with rough sleepers had dealt 
with homeless individuals with mental health issues, drug and alcohol dependencies. 
 
ACTION: 
 

1. For the Director of Housing and Property to provide data to the 
Committee on the average wait time for a homeless individual to be 
homed.  

 
2. For this item to be brought back in 6 months’ time for an update.  

 
AGREED: 
 
To note the contents of the report and presentation.  
 
39. Work Programme 2021 - 2022 
 
Members requested that the following items be added to the Work Programme 
for the next meeting on 17 February 2022: 
 
ACTION: 
 

• Add update on Voids to the Work Programme 

• Add update on Crime Disorder to the Work Programme 
 
40. Community Awards 
 
One Member queried the feedback from the Community Awards and the criteria 
required, and changes/plans for future years. 
 
The Cabinet Member for People and Safer Communities confirmed that the criteria 
had been presented in the report and that she had been hopeful of the awards taking 
place in future years. It was suggested that a workshop be formed within this 

11



 

 

Committee in order to discuss ways in which the Community Awards could be 
improved.  
 
41. Any other business which the Chairman, by reason of special 

circumstances, decides is urgent 
 
There were none.  
 
42. Close of meeting 
 
The Chairman closed the meeting at 16:25. 
 
 

12



Action Sheet 

Rural & Communities Overview and Scrutiny Committee – Actions from meeting of 8 December 2021 

 Min 
no 

Agenda item Action Assigned to Comments/Status Deadline 

32 Updates from 
the previous 
meeting 

For the Director of Housing to circulate 
information prior to the next meeting 
regarding on-costs, charges for 
overheads and the profit of the 
assistant garden maintenance scheme.  
 
For the Monitoring Officer to respond to 
the relevant Members letter before the 
next meeting. 
 

Andrew Cotton (Director of 
Housing and Property) and 
Democratic Services 
 
 
 
Alan Robinson (Monitoring 
Officer) 

A report on the agenda for 
the 28 April meeting.  
 
 
 
 
Email response sent to the 
Member on 8 December 
2021. 

Update email 
sent  
7 February 
2021. 
 
 
COMPLETE 

33 Progress of 
Corporate Plan 
– Performance 
against KPI’s 

For the Committee to receive more 
frequent updates and to review the 
statistics quarterly in a report form.  
 
Performance Lead to provide clarity on 
CCTV statistics relating to direct arrests 
and information leading to an arrest.  
 
 

Ben Russell (Performance 
Lead) 
 

 
 
 
 
Email sent to the 
Chairman and Vice-
Chairman on 12 
December 2021. 

Ongoing 
 
 
 
 
COMPLETE 

38 Homelessness 
Update (Change 
4 Lincs) 

For the Director of Housing and 
Property to provide data to the 
Committee on the average wait time for 
a homeless individual to be homed.  
 
 
 
 
 

Andrew Cotton (Director of 
Housing and Property) and 
Democratic Services 
 

Data has been requested, 
results will be provided 
once known.  

Ongoing 

13

A
genda Item

 5



Action Sheet 

Rural & Communities Overview and Scrutiny Committee – Actions from meeting of 8 December 2021 

 

 

Min 
no 

Agenda item Action Assigned to Comments/Status Deadline 

39 12. Work 
Programme 
2021 - 2022 
 

1. Update on Assisted Garden Scheme 
be added to the Work Programme, for 
meeting on 28 April.  

 
2. Update on Crime Disorder be added 

to the Work Programme, for meeting 
on 17 February.  

 
3. Update on Voids be added to the 

Work Programme, for meeting on 28 
April.  

 
4. Homelessness (Change 4 Lincs) be 

added to the Work Programme, for a 
6 month update.  

 
 

Andrew Cotton (Director of 
Housing and Property) and 
Democratic Services 
 
Yvonne Swinton (Community 
Safety Lead) 
 
 
Andrew Cotton (Director of 
Housing and Property) and 
Democratic Services 
 
Andrew Cotton (Director of 
Housing and Property) and 
Democratic Services 
 

Added to the Work 
Programme by Democratic 
Services. 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 

COMPLETE 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 

14



 

 

 

Rural and Communities Overview 
and Scrutiny Committee 

17 February 2022 

Report of: Councillor Robert Reid  

  Cabinet Member for Housing and 
Property 

           

Compliance update  

This report seeks to update Committee on actions to ensure regulatory compliance of the 
Council’s social housing landlord function following the non-compliance notice issued by the 
Regulator of Social Housing.  
 

Report Author 

Craig Spence (Assistant Director of Housing) 

 
 01476 406080 

  craig.spence@southkesteven.gov.uk 

 

Corporate Priority: Decision type: Wards: 

Housing that meets the 
needs of all residents 

Non-Key All Wards 

 

Reviewed by: Andrew Cotton (Director of Housing and Property)  31 January 2022 

Approved by: Alan Robinson (Deputy Chief Executive) 1 February 2022 

Signed off by: Councillor Robert Reid (Cabinet Member for Housing 
and Property) 

3 February 2022 

 

Recommendation (s) to the decision maker (s) 

1. That the Committee notes the latest compliance position following the ongoing 
meetings with the Regulator of Social Housing.  

2. That the Committee receives a further update report at its next scheduled meeting. 

 

15

Agenda Item 6

http://moderngov.southkesteven.gov.uk/mgMemberIndex.aspx?bcr=1
https://twitter.com/intent/tweet?text=Meeting%20agenda%20@southkesteven
http://www.linkedin.com/shareArticle?mini=true&url=http://moderngov.southkesteven.gov.uk/mgWhatsNew.aspx?bcr=1
http://facebook.com/sharer/sharer.php?u=http://moderngov.southkesteven.gov.uk/mgWhatsNew.aspx?bcr=1


 

 
 

1 The Background to the Report 

1.1 The Committee will be aware the Chief Executive determined, in consultation with the 

Leader and Cabinet Member for Housing and Planning, to self-refer the Council to the 

Regulator of Social Housing. Since this referral Officers have been providing further data 

and details relating to the core issues of non-compliance for the Regulator to consider and 

review.   

1.2 Monthly meetings have been taking place with the Regulator to cover issues of focus in 

terms of the regulatory framework, focussing on the Homes Standard; at the time of 

writing the report, the next scheduled meeting is on 28 January 2022.  Any issues of 

importance raised will be verbally reported to this meeting.  The discussions and requests 

for information have been provided as required, and this has allowed the Regulator to 

continue to work with Officers in a constructive and helpful way. 

1.3 The Committee has now received five update reports since March 2021 that have 

confirmed the Regulatory Notice served on the Council and provided an outline of the 

work that officers would continue to complete to ensure we logically and methodically 

progressed through a programme of improvement. 

1.4 The Committee determined that it would wish to receive update reports on progress at 

each of its meeting to ensure that Members had oversite of broad progress around the key 

areas of activity and could engage with Officers and scrutinise work where required. It 

identified the following core headings as a means of updating Members and would identify 

the following information to assist this process.  In addition, at the meeting on 01 July 

2021, Committee requested sight of the Improvement Plan; the latest version is appended 

to this report which has been altered to reflect Service Improvement and the Homes 

Standard (Appendix 2). 

1.5 Updating Tenants and Members: Following on from previous briefings, a further All 

Member Briefing has been arranged for 23 February 2022, to ensure Members are fully 

informed on progress and continued challenges.  

1.6 A full tenant consultation exercise is due to start this calendar year – “The Big Listen”.  

This will involve several questions on both the current experience of tenants in terms of 

the services the Council offers as a landlord, and what they would like to see prioritised in 

the Housing Revenue Account Business Plan, which will require a complete review in 

2022/23.  The questions are based on the Regulator of Social Housing’s proposed Tenant 

Satisfaction Measure, currently subject to consultation. 

1.7 A key activity to support that Business Plan review is up-to-date information on the 

Council’s housing stock.   As noted in the last report, the last full Stock Condition Survey 

was completed in 2009; good practice suggests comprehensive Stock Condition survey 

should be completed every 5 years, usually by undertaking a survey of 20% of the stock 

each year.  The Survey is on course for completion in this financial year, although it is 

concerning that several properties have not been surveyed due to a lack of access.   

Meetings with the contractor are being held to improve this and access rates have 

increased to 52%. We now have nine surveyors working on the contract, and we have 

revised our tenant letter to provide a greater level of urgency to enable access; the lifting 

of COVID restrictions will further enhance completions and access.      

1.8 The new IT solution platform to provide ‘tenant feedback’ in real time (Rant and Rave) was 

anticipated to become live by the end of October 2021. This initiative along with the Big 

16



 

 
 

Listen will form a critical contribution to meeting the new Charter for Social Housing 

Tenants White Paper requirements and will demonstrate to the Regulator a clear intent by 

the Council to embrace full tenant participation.   Disappointingly, technical IT issues have 

meant that the start date has been reset to January 2022.    

1.9 Audit Review Process:  as Committee will be aware, the original Audit report was 

completed and submitted to this Committee and then subsequently submitted to 

Governance and Audit Committee which was held on the 18 March 2021.  The Audit 

Workplan for 2021 included a further detailed audit for housing services during the 

summer of 2021, which has concluded, and the report was submitted to Audit and 

Governance and shared with this Committee (appended to the last report).  It is 

anticipated we will seek the assurance of an external audit in the early Summer to 

continue our evidence-base of the journey to full compliance.    

1.10 Regular Meeting with the Regulator: Monthly meetings between the Chief Executive, 

Director of Housing and Property Services, and the Regulator’s Officers take place as 

scheduled; the next meeting at time of writing was due on the 28 January 2022. These 

meetings cover specific core areas of compliance progress (attached as Appendix 1 to this 

report), the Improvement Plan (attached as Appendix 2), and other updates as required.  

The Regulator continues to express satisfaction at the progress made.     

1.11 Committee may find additional comment on Appendix 1 helpful: 

1.11.1 Asbestos – this shows 100% compliance in terms of asbestos inspections  

1.11.2 Electrical testing – this shows the position in relation to properties (both dwellings and 

communal areas) with an up-to-date electrical certificate, with the current position being 

72.03% of dwellings with a current satisfactory certificate.  The approach adopted will see 

full compliance achieved by the end of the financial year and meets the Regulator’s 

expectations.   Any urgent remedial works are being undertaken as part of the testing. 

1.11.3 Fire Risk Assessments – this shows all communal blocks assessed as “higher risk” have 

been inspected, and corrective actions are being programmed and completed.  It is 

consistent with the Council’s Fire Safety Management Plan.  

1.11.4 Gas – 99.42% of properties have an up-to-date gas certificate.   Of the properties without, 

all have appropriate actions up-to-date, including obtaining warrants to be served to force 

access.   

1.11.5 Legionella – all properties are currently compliant. 

1.11.6 Lift inspections – all properties are currently compliant.  

1.12 The Regulator has also been updated regarding the work being undertaken to launch the 

new compliance software known as Propeller, which is now operational within Housing 

Technical Services, and the Regulator has confirmed satisfaction with the project progress 

and planned objectives officers have outlined.   Similarly, work has been reported to the 

Regulator in relation to the management of the Council’s Sheltered Housing Schemes 

and, again, the Regulator has expressed satisfaction.   

1.13 Leadership Compliance Meetings: Chaired by Cabinet Member for Housing and 

Planning and attended by the Leader of the Council, the Chief Executive, the Director of 

Housing and Property, and the Assistant Director of Housing, these meetings have been a 

continued feature of the more detailed compliance review process being undertaken.  

Members of this group ensure specific responses to the changing compliance review 

17



 

 
 

process and manage tenant and the communication responses to actions associated with 

key service and regulatory responses such as agreeing the scope and nature of key 

issues to be covered by the Skyline magazine publication.  

1.14 Regular Reports to Committees and Cabinet:  the necessary reporting to appropriate 

committees will continue.  Members are invited to comment on this report content and 

confirm their views and observations relating to the detail contained within this report.  

2 Consultation and Feedback Process, Including Overview and Scrutiny 

2.1 The necessary consultation with the tenants and Members of the Council has been 

undertaken through timely reporting, dispatch of letters to advise tenants of progress, and 

the latest Skyline publication, dedicated customer telephone enquiry line, and an updated 

web site detailing compliance issues and signposting services. This process will continue 

as required and the engagement with tenants particularly will be amended to reflect 

changing needs and requirements.  

3 Available Options Considered 

These will be further determined through work with the Regulator, the adjusted 

Improvement Plan, and consideration of key outputs by Members, Leadership Compliance 

meetings, and All Member briefing sessions as arranged.  

4 Preferred Option 

To proceed in conjunction with the support and guidance of the Regulator, and to ensure 

audit and regulatory requirements are fully met by way of timely actions, reporting, and 

agreed improvement plan activity and regular reports to this committee, Audit and 

Governance Committee and Cabinet as required. Additional contact and reporting has 

been introduced for the Regulator and if necessary the HSE, and again this will continue 

as necessary. 

5 Reasons for the Recommendation (s) 

5.1 To secure as determined by the Regulator a return to full compliance in respect of housing 

services, including the identification of appropriate resources, funds, and service 

improvements in a timely manner.  

6 Next Steps – Communication and Implementation of the Decision 

6.1 To continue to build upon the Improvement Plan process, seek to secure a deliverable 

work plan with the Regulator, and provide timely and necessary information for Members 

such as this update report, so that robust decision making, and customer improvements 

can take place and be implemented as required.  

7 Financial Implications  

7.1 The financial considerations arising from the compliance requirements have been 

substantially incorporated in the HRA budgets for 2021/22 and also included in the 

proposed budgets for 2022/23.   

Financial Implications reviewed by: Richard Wyles, Assistant Director of Finance 

and s151 Officer 

8 Legal and Governance Implications  

18



 

 
 

8.1 The updates to Committee allow members to track progress against key risk areas, which 

is to be welcomed from a governance perspective. The legal implications for non-

compliance are incorporated within the risk ratings. 

Legal Implications reviewed by: Alan Robinson Monitoring Officer 

9 Equality and Safeguarding Implications  

9.1 All the necessary safeguarding and equality issues will be identified and complied with as 

the necessary compliance and improvement activities take place. Each equality and 

safeguarding impact are carefully considered when actioning a compliance or regulatory 

change. This is especially so when managing such matters for vulnerable households and 

particularly those occupying specialist accommodation such as designated sheltered 

accommodation.  

10 Risk and Mitigation 

10.1 The necessary risk issues, logs, and mitigations will be identified through the necessary 

work plans, and any work outputs agreed with the Regulator. Clearly dealing with 

significant compliance matters requires a comprehensive approach to risk management, 

particularly in respect of assessing priorities and critical actions. The necessary and 

agreed risk assessment process with be discussed and agreed with the Regulator at the 

appropriate time to ensure outcomes are as far as possible managed and objectives 

achieved.  

11 Community Safety Implications  

11.1 These will be identified as part of the compliance mitigation and implementation plans. 

12 How will the recommendations support South Kesteven District 

Council’s declaration of a climate emergency? 

12.1 Any capital improvement plans especially in the context of dealing with essential gas, 

electrical and other works will aim to maximise energy efficiency measures, and 

reductions in carbon emissions.  

13 Other Implications (where significant)  

13.1 None currently. 

14 Background Papers 

14.1 Previous reports, and correspondence with Regulator. 

14.2 Report to Governance and Audit Committee and Rural Overview and Scrutiny Committee.  

15 Appendices 

15.1 Appendix 1 – Summary Paper relating to core compliance areas.  

15.2 Appendix 2 – Improvement Plan January 2022.   

 

 

19



This page is intentionally left blank



24 January 2022 - V.11

Gas

0%

50%

100%

21 March 2021 16 April 2021 20 May 2021 18 June 2021 19 July 2021 27 August 2021 22 September 2021 15 October 2021 19 November 2021 23 December 2021 24 January 2022

98.89% 99.04% 99.06% 99.10% 98.69% 98.37% 99.16% 99.29% 99.42% 99.23% 99.42%

Electrical

0%

50%

100%

21 March 2021 16 April 2021 20 May 2021 18 June 2021 19 July 2021 27 August 2021 22 September 2021 15 October 2021 19 November 2021 23 December 2021 24 January 2022

55.65% 56.47%
65.22% 66.90%

52.44%
45.11% 48.68% 52.84%

62.18%
69.74% 72.03%

21

A
ppendix 1



24 January 2022 - V.11

Asbestos (re-inspections)

0%

50%

100%

21 March 2021 16 April 2021 20 May 2021 18 June 2021 19 July 2021 27 August 2021 22 September 2021 15 October 2021 19 November 2021 23 December 2021 24 January 2022

70.04%

100.00% 100.00% 100.00% 100.00% 100.00% 100.00% 100.00% 100.00% 100.00% 100.00%

Legionella

0%

50%

100%

21 March 2021 16 April 2021 20 May 2021 18 June 2021 19 July 2021 27 August 2021 22 September 2021 15 October 2021 19 November 2021 23 December 2021 24 January 2022

100.00% 100.00% 100.00% 100.00% 100.00% 100.00% 100.00% 100.00% 100.00% 100.00% 100.00%

22



24 January 2022 - V.11

Lift inspections

0%

50%

100%

21 March 2021 16 April 2021 20 May 2021 18 June 2021 19 July 2021 27 August 2021 22 September 2021 15 October 2021 19 November 2021 23 December 2021 24 January 2022

100.00% 100.00% 100.00% 100.00% 100.00% 100.00% 100.00% 100.00% 100.00% 100.00% 100.00%

Fire Risk Assessments

0%

50%

100%

21 March 2021 16 April 2021 20 May 2021 18 June 2021 19 July 2021 27 August 2021 22 September 2021 15 October 2021 19 November 2021 23 December 2021 24 January 2022

11.56%
21.83%

47.98%

99.42% 99.33% 100.00% 100.00% 100.00% 100.00% 100.00%

23



T
his page is intentionally left blank



Homes Standard v2 January 2022

https://assets.publishing.service.gov.uk/government/uploads/system/uploads/attachment_data/file/914576/Home_Standard_2015.pdf

Regulatory 

Reference 

Summary Action 

number 

Issue Detail How identified Action to address Target Budget Lead Officer RAG Direction 

of travel 

Dec-21 Jan-22

1.1a ensure that tenants’ homes meet the standard set out 

in section five of the Government’s Decent Homes 

Guidance and continue to maintain their homes to at 

least this standard

HS1 Lack of Void Policy and Relet Standard Holding relet standard issued Jan 21. Self Assessment 

Nov 20

Adopt Policy and 

Relet Standard

Jan-22 Existing budget 

adequate 

ADH
+

Consultation Rural and Communities OSC 

complete Dec 21; on Cabinet agenda 

13.01.22

Policy and standard adopted at 

cabinet Jan 2022.

HS2 Lack of stock condition information Last full Stock Condition Survey 

completed 2009. Sample Stock Condition 

surveys by internal surveyors been 

undertaken annually, but not consistent 

around detail and numbers.

Self Assessment 

Nov 20

Commission full stock 

condition survey in 

2021/22

Mar-22 £780k Budget 

approved by Full 

Council in 

December 2020.

HofTS
=

Access has improved to just below 40%. 

The access procedure has been reviewed 

and we have publicised the issue of no 

access in our tenant newsletter. We now 

have 7 surveyors working on the contract 

to ensure that the project will complete on 

time.

Access rates increasing to 52%. 

We now have nine surveyors 

working on the contract. We 

have revised our tenant letter to 

provide a greater level of urgency 

to enable access.

We have a procedural meeting to 

iron out a few inconsistencies 

and we have a contract meeting 

later this week to keep pushing 

for positive progress, the lifting of 

COVID restrictions will further 

enhance completions and access.

HS3 Revised capital improvements 

programme for 21/22 and future 

financial years. This to include 

potential new priorities such as 

fencing programme, windows/door 

entry systems, FRA’s and electrical 

certificates.

Heavily dependent on Action 1 Self Assessment 

Nov 20

Revised capital 

programmes based on 

previous years and 

emerging issues.  

Jul-22 Budget setting 

2022/23

ADH
=

Further one year holding capital 

programme for 21/22 in development as 

part of budget setting.  Additional capital 

bids for Compliance works and Fire 

Compliance have been submitted to 

ensure that we can continue progressing 

in these areas.

No change 

HIAP6 Review Asset Management Plan and 

HRA Business Plan.  

This is a document that can only be 

drafted once the outcome of the stock 

condition survey is determined.

Self assessment 

Nov 20 and 

ongoing 

Stock Condition 

Survey underway. 

Asset Management 

Strategy to be 

developed as survey 

data is analysed. The 

Target date for 

completion of this 

work is end of March 

2022

Jul-22 Existing resources DHP (supported AD 

Finance) =
Stock condition survey ongoing; Big Listen 

survey will give tenant views and is 

planned this financial year 

Big Listen tender evaluation w/c 

24th Jan.

1.1c in agreeing a local offer, ensure that it is set at a level 

not less than these standards

HS4 No local offer Not a requirement; low priority pending 

relaunch of tenant engagement function 

and result of "Big Listen" survey

Self Assessment 

Dec 21 =
Pending Will be revisited after results 

have concluded from the Big 

Listen Survey

1.2a provide a cost-effective repairs and maintenance 

service to homes and communal areas that responds 

to the needs of, and offers choices to, tenants, and has 

the objective of completing repairs and improvements 

right first time

HS5 Anecdotal evidence of poor service, 

lack of pre and post inspection, lack of 

benchmarking, limited stock condition 

information.  

Service blueprint and restructure to 

clarify roles and resources, strong link to 

IHMS procurement and process reviews; 

confusing number of contractual terms 

for trades team  

Self assessment 

Nov 20 and 

ongoing 

Restructure; identify 

and improve 

processes on a risk 

basis; IHMS 

procurement; training 

and performance 

management 

Jul-22 DHP
+

Service blueprint complete, consultation 

diarised; external HR support to 

rationalise T&Cs of trades team; 

temporary resource for inspections from 

January 2022

Trade contracts to be rationalised 

and meeting held with Trades 

Union.  Informal work on 

restructures continues 

1.2b meet all applicable statutory requirements that 

provide for the health and safety of the occupants in 

their homes.

HS6 No effective IT solution for monitoring 

and managing compliance 

requirements 

Fire, gas and electrical priority Self Assessment 

Nov 20

Propeller System 

procured and 

launched 2021.  

Apr-22 Budget approved. 

Costs £76k 20/21 

financial year then 

£39k per year.

HofTS
=

System installation completed for Fire, Gas 

& EICR’s.  The priority remains the 

management of fire actions. We have now 

included a specific module to track fire 

assets e.g. fire extinguishers and fire 

doors, to enable specific monitoring and 

servicing.  We have been working with 

Propeller to develop the functionality of 

the data.  

Module to record passenger lift 

compliance nearly complete.  

Asbestos Module to monitor 

compliance progressed, to be 

completed in the next weeks.   

Fire Asset Tag module complete. 

HS7 Sheltered housing compliance and 

operational review required.

Separate Action Plan Self assessment 

June 21

Apr-22
+

Separate Action Plan Separate Action Plan 

Progress update 

25

A
ppendix 2



HS8 Wide issues of non-compliance 

identified by Internal Audit report 

Delivery of key Audit recommendations Audit report 

November 2020 

and October 

2021

Close monitoring of 

KPIs; reporting to 

Scrutiny Committees 

Apr-22 Existing resources DHP
=

Latest Audit presented to December’s 

Rural & Communities Overview and 

Scrutiny Committee and was presented to 

Governance and Audit Committee on 

20.10.21  

No change 

2.1.1 shall ensure their tenants are aware of the reasons for 

any period of non-compliance, their plan to achieve 

compliance and then report on progress delivering this 

plan.

HS9 Provide information and reassurance 

for tenants regarding regulatory 

notice and improvements 

Information and updates provided on 

service of notice 

Self Assessment 

Nov 20

Ongoing Ongoing Existing resources DHP
=

Skyline December 2021 - full annual 

report, water hygiene and access for 

repairs, and article on engagement with 

RSH

No change 

2.2.1 ensure a prudent, planned approach to repairs and 

maintenance of homes and communal areas. This 

should demonstrate an appropriate balance of 

planned and responsive repairs, and value for money. 

The approach should include: responsive and cyclical 

repairs, planned and capital work, work on empty 

properties, and adaptations.

HS10 Anecdotal evidence of poor service, 

lack of pre and post inspection, lack of 

benchmarking, limited stock condition 

information.  

Service blueprint and restructure to 

clarify roles and resources, strong link to 

IHMS procurement and process reviews 

Self assessment 

Nov 20 and 

ongoing 

Restructure; identify 

and improve 

processes on a risk 

basis; IHMS 

procurement; training 

and performance 

management 

Jul-22 Existing resources DHP 
=

Service blueprint complete, consultation 

diarised

Informal restructure work 

continues 

2.2.2 co-operate with relevant organisations to provide an 

adaptations service that meets tenants’ needs

HS11 Engagement with OT service 

haphazard, general approach is to 

complete adaptations regardless of 

practicality 

No clear policy on Aids and Adaptations Self assessment 

December 2021

Adopt Aids and 

Adaptation Policy 

Apr-22 Existing resources HofHS
+

First draft circulated internally for review Policy in draft for this with 

established timeline for 

implementation. There is a 

meeting to consult with 

Occupational Health 25/01/22

26



 

 

 

Rural and Communities Overview 
and Scrutiny Committee 

17 February 2022 

Report of: Councillor Robert Reid 

  Cabinet Member for Housing and 
Property 

           

 

Council House New Builds 

This report seeks to provide Committee with an update on the current new build programme, an 
overview of recent delivery, and invites Committee’s input and views to the future direction of the 
Council’s HRA New Build Programme. 
 

 

Report Author 

Craig Spence, Assistant Director of Housing 

 
01476 406080 

 craig.spence@southkesteven.gov.uk 

 

Corporate Priority: Decision type: Wards: 

Housing that meets the 
needs of all residents 

Non-Key All Wards 

 

Reviewed by: Andrew Cotton (Director of Housing and Property) 7 February 2022 

Approved by: Alan Robinson (Deputy Chief Executive) 8 February 2022 

Signed off by: Councillor Robert Reid (Cabinet Member for Housing 
and Property) 

8 February 2022 

 

Recommendation (s) to the decision maker (s) 

1. That the Committee notes and provides comment on the current programme, future 
programme and recent delivery information. 

2. That the Committee informs on the aspirations for the future Council House New 
Build programme. 

27

Agenda Item 7

http://moderngov.southkesteven.gov.uk/mgMemberIndex.aspx?bcr=1
https://twitter.com/intent/tweet?text=Meeting%20agenda%20@southkesteven
http://www.linkedin.com/shareArticle?mini=true&url=http://moderngov.southkesteven.gov.uk/mgWhatsNew.aspx?bcr=1
http://facebook.com/sharer/sharer.php?u=http://moderngov.southkesteven.gov.uk/mgWhatsNew.aspx?bcr=1


 
 

1 The Background to the Report 

1.1 The Council has a clear intention that the Housing Revenue account delivers 

new build properties to support the “Housing that meets the needs of 

residents” theme of the Corporate Plan adopted in 2020. Such a delivery 

programme must of course be balanced against the requirement to deliver 

capital investment in the existing HRA stock to meet statutory and regulatory 

requirements. 

1.2 Over the last three years we have delivered: 

Kinoulton Court, Grantham - were modular builds, consisting of ten one-

bedroom flats. 

Earlesfield Lane, Grantham - modular builds, consisting of four one-

bedroom flats,  

Both these schemes were completed in May 2020, utilising HRA capital 

reserves. The energy efficiency rating for all properties was B-83 which 

exceeds the current England and Wales average of D-60.   

1.3 We currently have three sites under construction: 

Meadow Close, Bourne - four flats and three bungalows, all properties are 

one bedroom – Construction is ongoing, external work is almost complete 

with internal works progressing well, expected completion is February 2022. 

Trinity Road, Stamford - five bungalows, with x3 two bedroom, x1 three 

bedroom and x1 one bedroom – Construction ongoing, expected completion 

end of April – Catching up from delay on the soakaway from last year. 

Riverside Walk, Grantham - three one-bedroom units – Construction 

ongoing, expected completion February 2022. 

Naturally, all new build properties meet building regulation standards and are 

built to a Lifetime Homes standard.  The use of timber frame construction at 

Meadow Close and Trinity Road allows better heating efficiency than 

traditional construction methods. 

1.4 In relation to the new Council Homes target, work will be needed to balance 

development aspirations against required capital investment in the Council’s 

existing housing stock as part of the review of the Housing Revenue Account 

Business Plan taking place in 2022/23.  

This review is reliant on the quality of the information available regarding the 

condition of the Council’s existing housing stock – to that end, Stock 

Condition Surveys commenced in July 2021 to provide robust data to inform 

future business decisions.   The Council is also undertaking Energy 

Performance Certification as part of the Stock Condition Survey. 

1.5 Over the next two years we plan to deliver the following schemes: 

Elizabeth Road, Stamford - four one-bedroom flats, currently seeking 

planning permission completion during 2022/23. 

28



 
 

Swinegate, Grantham - twenty unit sheltered accommodation block, 

currently with planning, start on site 2022/23. 

We have a number of further projects in development to ensure a 

pipeline to meet targets. Draft Delivery budgets for these schemes are 

listed in the table. 

Draft Scheme Budgets 

Scheme Location 
Project 
Start 

Units Total Estimated 
Cost 

Elizabeth Rd Stamford 2022 4 £520,000 

Swinegate Grantham 2022/23 20 £3,520,000 

Additional 
projects in 
development 

Various 2023/24 20 £3,000,000 

 

Future Aspirations 

1.6 The above costings are to deliver the properties to meet current building 

regulations, however we would like to understand the future aspirations from 

the Committee to explore and include where practicable new technologies 

and new build techniques. 

1.7 By new technologies we could explore the inclusion of solar thermal, air 

source heat pumps, rainwater harvesting, enhanced thermal efficiency 

measures.  

For new build techniques. this could be further exploration of modular builds, 

timber frame construction and off-site construction. The benefits of these 

approaches are enhanced thermal efficiency and reduced time on site during 

construction. 

1.8 Both approaches could impact on the build budget but would deliver savings 

to our tenants through the reduction of utility costs and therefore reduce the 

risk of fuel poverty. If we make a commitment to explore these technologies 

and techniques it would also aid us in being seen as leading by example and 

would also go some way to delivering on our Clean and Sustainable 

Environment priority within the Corporate Plan.  

1.9 With increases to our specification and through embracing new build 

technologies future external funding opportunities may arise. The resulting 

properties would be aspirational and cutting edge, empowering our tenants 

to take ownership and feel positive about the homes that they live in. 

2 Consultation and Feedback Process, Including Overview and 

Scrutiny 

29



 
 

2.1  We aim to include several questions within our ‘Big Listen’ tenant survey to 

understand the Council’s tenants’ appetite for energy efficient homes. 

2.2 We shall regularly inform Members of the Council and our Tenants through 

timely reporting to Committee and via our Skyline publications. 

3 Available Options Considered 

3.1 These will be determined through ongoing work on the Housing Revenue 

Account Business Plan (including tenant and Member consultation), and the 

ongoing project appraisal on a site-by-site basis. 

4 Preferred Option 

4.1 For the Council’s Housing New Build Programme to continue, supporting the 

delivery of the Corporate Plan, pending a review of the HRA Business Plan.    

5 Reasons for the Recommendation (s) 

5.1 The Council must operate in the context of financial prudence and long-term 

business planning, balancing aspirations against available resources.      

6 Next Steps – Communication and Implementation of the 

Decision 

6.1 To continue to deliver the identified schemes, seeking to explore 

opportunities to include energy efficient technologies and new build 

techniques at every opportunity. Providing timely and necessary information 

for Members to support robust decision making. 

7 Financial Implications  

The proposed HRA capital programme includes a new build allocation of 

£3.820m in 2022/23, £3m in 2023/24 and £2.810m in 2024/25.  The capital 

receipts reserve is forecasted to be £7.8m rising to £9.1m by March 2025 

after taking into consideration the proposed new build budgets.  The Council 

has signed up to the Government’s 141 receipts which requires the Council 

to utilise specific Right to Buy receipts to invest in new housing.  It is 

important to ensure the pace of new build is in line with the RTB receipts 

(received and projected) in order to avoid the Council having to repay 

receipts back to Government.  The profile of the three year new build 

forecast is insufficient to avoid receipts being paid and therefore the new 

build programme will need to be increased by £12m by 2025/26 based on 

the current projections. 

Financial Implications reviewed by: Richard Wyles, Assistant Director 

of Finance and s151 Officer 

 

 

 
 

30



 
 

8 Legal and Governance Implications  

8.1 As this report is to note the update on current new build programme and 

overview of recent delivery there are no legal implications arising. 

Legal Implications reviewed by: Mandy Braithwaite, Legal Executive  

9 Equality and Safeguarding Implications  

9.1 All the necessary safeguarding and equality issues will be identified and 

complied with as each development progresses. 

10 Risk and Mitigation 

10.1 The necessary risk issues, logs, and mitigations will be identified as a key 

part of each programme. Clearly dealing with significant contract values 

requires a comprehensive approach to risk management, particularly in 

respect of assessing priorities and critical actions and deliverables. 

11 Community Safety Implications  

11.1 These will be identified as part of each individual site’s development plan. 

12 How will the recommendations support South Kesteven 

District Council’s declaration of a climate emergency? 

12.1 Any future Council House New Builds should aim to maximise energy 

efficiency from design stage and deliver reductions in carbon emissions.  

13 Other Implications (where significant)  

13.1 None currently 

14 Background Papers 

14.1 http://moderngovsvr/documents/s30699/Finance%20Update%20Report.pdf 

Section 6.1, pg. 27  

14.2 http://moderngov.southkesteven.gov.uk/documents/s32074/Budget%20Prop

osals%20for%20202223%20and%20indicative%20budgets%20for%202023

24%20and%20202425.pdf  

15 Appendices 

15.1 Appendix 1 – Images of recent new build completions 

 

 

31

http://moderngovsvr/documents/s30699/Finance%20Update%20Report.pdf
http://moderngov.southkesteven.gov.uk/documents/s32074/Budget%20Proposals%20for%20202223%20and%20indicative%20budgets%20for%20202324%20and%20202425.pdf
http://moderngov.southkesteven.gov.uk/documents/s32074/Budget%20Proposals%20for%20202223%20and%20indicative%20budgets%20for%20202324%20and%20202425.pdf
http://moderngov.southkesteven.gov.uk/documents/s32074/Budget%20Proposals%20for%20202223%20and%20indicative%20budgets%20for%20202324%20and%20202425.pdf


This page is intentionally left blank



Appendix 1 - New Council Homes 

 

Earlesfield Lane May 2020 

 

                

 

Kinoulton Court Grantham 

 

 

33

Appendix 1



This page is intentionally left blank



Neighbourhoods and CCTV

Presentation for Rural and Communities Overview and Scrutiny 
Committee.

Yvonne Swinton, Community Safety Lead

35

A
genda Item

 8



Neighbourhoods, Public Protection

Responsibilities

• anti-social behaviour (ASB) including vehicle ASB 

• noise complaints including noisy animals 

• neighbour disputes

• untidy gardens/land

• pests

• abandoned vehicle

• flytipping and other waste offences

• graffiti

• littering and dog fouling

• parking enforcement within Council owned car parks. 

The Team

1 x Senior Neighbourhoods Officer – Investigate serious ASB and Environmental Crime offences, Safeguarding Lead

3 x Neighbourhoods Officers – Investigate ASB and environmental crime

1 x Neighbourhoods Assistant – Assists with high volume, low complexity complaints and car park enforcement.

1 x Enforcement Officer – Car park enforcement and littering/dog patrols.

1 x Technical Support Officer – Supports administration requirements within Neighbourhoods and CCTV.

36



CCTV, Public Protection

Responsibilities

Our CCTV scheme provides coverage of retail, commercial, residential, recreational, car parks and open space areas located in 
the District of South Kesteven.  The purpose of the scheme is to help provide a safe public environment for the benefit of those
people who live, work, trade, visit, service and enjoy the facilities of the town centres.

The use of CCTV is heavily legislated ensuring that the scheme is fully compliant which allows for CCTV cameras to be installed 
and monitored in public areas whilst adhering to the Surveillance Commissioners twelve principles. The scheme has recently 
been accredited with the 5-year compliance certificate for the Biometrics and Surveillance Commissioners Code of Practice and 
adherence to BS 7958.

The Team

1 x Operational Supervisor – Day to day management of operational requirements

6 x Permanent CCTV Operators 

37



Table of Responsibilities
(Please note, ASB is subjective, this list is not exhaustive)

Type of ASB SKDC Responsibility Police Responsibility

Abandoned Vehicles X

Alcohol License Breaches X

Assaults X

Barking Dogs X

Bonfires X

Burglary X

Criminal Damage X

Dangerous Dogs X

Dog Fouling X

Dogs Off Leads/Escaping/Nuisance X

Drugs Use/Dealing X

Flytipping/Waste Offences X

Graffiti X

Groups Causing Nuisance in Public Place X X

Harassment X

Intimidation X

Littering X

Neighbour Disputes X X

Noise X

PSPO – Alcohol X

PSPO – Dogs X

SKDC Tenancy Issues X 

Underage Drinking X

Untidy Gardens/Land X

Vehicle Nuisance (Boyracers) X X

Vehicle Obstruction X

38



Partnership Working

Tackling ASB – working with other agencies and using the range of tools available to deal with complaints of ASB including joint 
visits, unacceptable behaviour warning letters, closure orders, dispersal powers, PSPO and criminal behaviour orders.

Ecins – multi agency database allowing for the secure sharing of information. 

Priority Setting – Quarterly meetings to discuss existing and future priorities.

Patrols – joint patrols take place where a particular problem has been identified or an area has been designated as a priority. Over 
the summer 2021 ASB patrols took place across the district.  CCTV operators assisted in establishing where the issues were and 
directing officers to the locations and monitoring activity.

Operation Indal – a successful police led operation to tackle vehicle ASB within Grantham.  Neighbourhoods Officers assisted with 
ASB offences and issuing littering fines.  CCTV operators assisted with finding vehicles and monitoring activity.

Operation Malta - an operation to identify and tackle flytipping offenders.  Neighbourhoods Officers are working with police to 
establish vehicle owner details of ongoing investigations.  There are also plans for a day of action with the Lincolnshire Police Rural 
Crime Team to tackle illegal waste sites and bogus waste carriers.

PSPO Dog Patrols – a new PSPO was put in place within The Spinney, Market Deeping, preventing dogs from being allowed off the 
lead.  Signage was erected and patrols carried out to educate the public and take enforcement action if necessary.

Safeguarding Joint Visits – Neighbourhoods Officers frequently attend properties where there are safeguarding concerns with 
representatives of the police, fire and rescue, GP’s and mental health teams.  These working relationships are particularly useful 
when the skills of many agencies are required to solve any identified issues.

CCTV Observations – The Operators within CCTV routinely assist Lincolnshire Police by monitoring ongoing incidents, identifying 
known criminals and assisting with arrests by providing direction of travel and witnessing offences taking place.  More recently, 
Operators have assisted with arrests involving firearms, burglary, high value thefts and cannabis grows.

39



Contact

By Email 

Neighbourhoods@southkesteven.gov.uk

CCTV@southkesteven.gov.uk

Yvonne.Swinton@southkesteven.gov.uk

By Phone

Customer Services – 01476 406080

40

mailto:Neighbourhoods@southkesteven.gov.uk
mailto:Neighbourhoods@southkesteven.gov.uk
mailto:CCTV@southkesteven.gov.uk
mailto:Yvonne.Swinton@southkesteven.gov.uk


Rural and Communities Overview and Scrutiny Committee Work Programme 2021 - 2022 

Committee Membership: 

Chairman: Councillor Ray Wootten 

Vice Chairman: Councillor Sarah Trotter 

REPORT TITLE ISSUE PURPOSE ORIGINATED 
 

CORPORATE PRIORITY 
 

17 February 2022 

Regulatory compliance  Update to be provided at each 
meeting for the duration of the non-
compliance notice. To include 
Tenant Engagement Feedback. 
 
Lead Officer:  
Andrew Cotton (Director for 
Housing and Property 
 

To evidence progress 
and actions undertaken. 

Requested to be a 
standing item on the 
agenda by the Committee 
on 11 March 2021. 

Housing that meets the 
needs of all residents 

Council House New 
Builds 

To provide the Committee with an 
update on Council House New 
Builds 
 
Lead Officer: 
Andrew Cotton (Director for 
Housing and Property 
 

To evidence progress 
and actions undertaken. 

Requested to be an item 
on the agenda by the 
Committee on 7 October 
2021.  

Housing that meets the 
needs of all residents 

Crime Disorder -  
Neighbourhood 
Policing and Anti-
social Behaviour 

A six-monthly update from the 
Lincolnshire Neighbourhood 
Policing Team. 
 
Lead Officer: Yvonne Swinton 
(Community Safety Lead) 

6 monthly update. Requested to be an item 
on the agenda by the 
Committee on 7 October 
2021. 

Healthy and Strong 
Communities 

41

A
genda Item

 10



 
 

REPORT TITLE ISSUE PURPOSE ORIGINATED 
 

CORPORATE PRIORITY 
 

28 April 2022 

Regulatory compliance  Update to be provided at each 
meeting for the duration of the non-
compliance notice. To include 
Tenant Engagement Feedback. 
 
Lead Officer:  
Andrew Cotton (Director for 
Housing and Property 
 
 

To evidence progress 
and actions undertaken. 

Requested to be a 
standing item on the 
agenda by the Committee 
on 11 March 2021. 

Housing that meets the 
needs of all residents 

Tenant Grounds 
Maintenance 
consultation, including 
Assisted Garden 
Scheme  

To provide committee with an 
update on HRA grounds 
maintenance service and seek 
views on the format of tenant 
consultation.  
 
Lead Officer:  
Andrew Cotton (Director for 
Housing and Property 
 

To seek Member input 
into service improvement 

Requested to be an item 
on the agenda by the 
Committee on 8 
December 2021. 

Housing that meets the 
needs of all residents 

Update on Voids To review progress on Void 
properties.  
 
Lead Officer: 
Andrew Cotton (Director for 
Housing and Property 
 

To ensure OSC is kept 
up to date with updates.  

Requested to be an item 
on the agenda by the 
Committee on 8 
December 2021. 

Housing the Meets the 
Needs of all Residents 

 

 

42



 
 

 

Report title Issue Originated Corporate Priority 

Landlords Forum TBC 
 
 

 Housing that 
meets the 
needs of all 
residents 

CCG/ULHT – Pandemic 
lessons learnt and 
experiences 

TBC 
 
 
 

Requested by the Chairman 
 

Healthy 
and strong 
communities 

Housing Service Repair 
Policy 

The chargeable policy report provides guidance 
on how the council will identify, calculate and 
administrate charges for undertaking repairs to its 
housing stock that are not its responsibility as the 
landlord. 
 
Lead Officer: Julie Martin (Head of Housing 
Technical Services) 

Requested by the Chairman 
 

Housing the Meets the 
Needs of all Residents 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

43



 
 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

The Committee’s Remit 
 
The remit of the Rural and Communities Overview and Scrutiny Committee will be to work alongside Cabinet Members to assist with the 
development of policy and to scrutinise decisions in respect of, but not limited to: 
 

• Anti-social Behaviour 

• Assisted Garden Maintenance Scheme 

• Benefit Claims 

• Community Cohesion 

• Community Funding & Volunteering 

• Community Right to Bid 

• Community Safety and Local Policing 

• Customer Services 

• DASH Landlord Accreditation Scheme 

• Disabled Facilities Grant 

• Empty Homes Assistance 

• Empty Homes Discount 

• Equalities and Diversity 

• Essential Home Repair Assistance 

• Gravitas Housing 

• Health 

• Homelessness 

• Housing Management, Improvement and Repairs 

• Housing Partnership 

• HR and Organisational Development 

• Landlords Forum 

• Parish and Town Council Liaison 

• Procurement 

• Safeguarding 

• Well-being 

44


	Agenda
	4 Action Notes from the meeting held on 8 December 2021
	Minutes

	5 Updates from the previous meeting
	6 Regulatory Compliance
	Appendix 1
	Appendix 2

	7 Council House New Builds
	Appendix 1

	8 Crime Disorder - Neighbourhood Policing and Anti-social Behaviour
	10 Work Programme 2021 - 2022

